THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEALS FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James E. Chellis
Master of Equity

Appellate Case No. 2014-002633

Molly M. Morpew, Thomas M. Ferro and Lorraine B. Ferro.....

Appellants

v.

Stephen Dudek and Doreen Cross.....

Respondents

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Molly M. Morpew, *pro se*
788 E Butternut Rd.
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 514-7299

Thomas & Lorraine Ferro, *pro se*
5501 Carson St.
Denver, CO 80239

Other Parties of Record:
David Athell Collins
P.O. Box 40578
Charleston, SC 29405
(843) 760-0220

RECEIVED
APR 21 2015
SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the master in equity err in his ruling that the Respondents Contract is enforceable?
2. Did the master in equity err in concluding that the failure of Respondents to meet their conditions of their contract in a timely manner incapable of being defended?
3. Did the master in equity err by basing his ruling on findings of fact that were not supported by the testimony in the record?
4. Did the master in equity err by supporting his decisions upon false, inconsistent, unreliable and obfuscated testimonies, therefore showing bias in favor of the Respondents?
5. Did the master in equity err in his assertion that Appellant Morphew alternatively sought damages against Appellants Ferro on breach of the Morphew Contract, therefore Appellants Ferro champion the Morphew Contract?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 20, 2012, Respondents (Buyers, Stephen Dudek and Doreen Cross) signed the said Contract. Ms. Nicholson, agent for Respondents, negotiates with Appellants (Sellers, Thomas and Lorraine Ferro)/their agent, Rick Willis.

On October 22, 2012, Allison Williams (FF lending officer) generates and provides pre-approval letter for Respondents (R. pg. 191, lines 5-9 pg. 228)¹

On October 24, Ms. Williams told Respondent Cross that the dividing of the land “may” be a problem for the appraiser. Ms. Williams sent an e-mail to [someone she could not specify (R. pg. 167 lines 6-10) to inquire if the land division will be a problem for the appraiser.² Ms. Nicholson met with Appellants Ferro (sellers) to ratify contract. Contract ratified. Nicholson told Appellants Ferro that the recording of the survey was required in order for Respondents to pursue their financing. Tommy Ferro immediately went to the surveyor’s office and set an appointment for survey. Respondents, Ms. Nicholson, Rick Willis (agent for Ferro) and Appellants Ferro met on said property to flag property lines for surveyor.

On October 25, land survey performed by Ben Coker from Ashley Surveying.

On October 31, Respondents’ Home Inspection performed.

On November 4, Appellants Ferro receive Respondents’ “critical” repair list. The next day, Appellants Ferro answer what they will agree to in a short paragraph via e-mail.

On November 7, Ms. Nicholson receives the original critical list that has been marked as to what Appellants Ferro will and won’t do. Ms. Nicholson forwards list to Respondents. The next

¹ “T.” will represent “transcript”, “pg.” will represent “page number” and “l.” will represent “line(s)” herein.

² Ms. Williams’ testimony concludes the land division issue is her opinion only; she never followed up on the answer; therefore the information that the appraisal cannot be ordered or performed until the survey is recorded is just speculation. Ms. Williams did testify that this concern was more hers because she didn’t want to have to correct the appraisal if anything changed after the survey got recorded (R. pg. 161, lines 13 -21 and pg. 214 lines 10-19)

day Ms. Nicholson asks for more clarification in regards to what Appellants Ferro agree on in regards to the repair list.

On November 10, Ferro again replies to clarification request from Respondents and sends back Respondents' original repair list request with his hand marked entries to as what he agrees to and what he doesn't agree to. Ferro schedules appointment for Structural Engineer inspection. The very next day, Appellants Ferro respond to another clarification request from Respondents in regards to the repair list. This line by line list corresponds to the sections and numbers from the original repair list request but with only items that the Appellants Ferro are agreeing to perform.

On November 12, Plumber inspection and repairs completed.

On November 14, Structural inspection performed. Structural engineer states to all present [Respondents, Ms. Nicholson, Tim Arnold (Respondents' contractor), and Appellants Ferro that he feels comfortable with the structural integrity of the home (as repeated below).

On November 20, Ben Coker from Ashley Surveying sends completed and recorded plat to Appellants Ferro. The next evening, Appellants Ferro forward to Willis.

On November 22, Willis sends recorded plat to Ms. Nicholson and asks for confirmation. No reply from Ms. Nicholson.

On November 23, Willis asks Ms. Nicholson if "*everything was on track to close next week*" and if she "*received the plat*" yesterday. No reply from Ms. Nicholson. Respondents receives recorded plat from Ms. Nicholson.

On November 26, Willis again asks Ms. Nicholson if "*the closing time has been set for the property*" and "*if they could please know where it is being held*". Ms. Nicholson responds that she's "*talking to the mortgage company now but they hadn't done the appraisal yet... Bank has not given a timeline for closing.*"³ Willis forwards the 11-22-12 e-mail again to Ms. Nicholson

³ Respondents have not applied for loan yet; appraisal would not be ordered; lender cannot give a closing date if application is not even made. Ms. Nicholson is providing misleading information to Willis/Appellants Ferro.

stating that the plat Ms. Nicholson received last Thursday IS the correct and recorded plat, and to please confirm she has received.

On November 27, Appellants Ferro asks what they should be expecting as a closing date. Ms. Nicholson responds that the bank does not know when they will be ready for closing.⁴ Respondents contact closing attorney. Closing attorney (Woody Law Firm) sends out engagement letter, via U.S.P.S., to the Appellants Ferro asking them to fill out the required information (Social Security numbers, phone numbers and e-mail addresses) and return to them (R. pg. 258⁵). Respondents sends Appellants Ferro another revised request for repairs list.

On November 27, Respondent Cross contacts Ms. Williams (First Financial loan officer) and states she is still waiting for the structural and moisture reports so “*we can firm everything up*” and that her realtor [Nicholson] is “*starting to chew her nails ☹*” and that she “*will be in touch soon*”. Respondent Cross verifies FF has the correct recorded survey plat (R. pg. 276⁶). Woody Law Firm sends introduction e-mail to FF stating they were contacted to handle Mr. Dudek’s purchase, and that title has been ordered and asked for FF’s title request.⁷

November 28, CL-100 performed by Palmetto Exterminators. Willis inquires to Ms. Nicholson if she is going to prepare an extension. (R. pg. 342)

November 30, FF updates status of Respondents “May 2012 file” to “Dead File”- over 180 days old.⁸

On November 30, Appellants Ferro receive completed CL-100 from Palmetto Exterminators. Willis takes CL-100 to closing attorney. All repairs agreed by Appellants Ferro are completed. Willis again asks Ms. Nicholson if they “*have any idea on a closing*”, and “*if the*

⁴ Id.

⁵ “Ex.” Will represent “Exhibit” herein.

⁶ “sp.” will represent “specifically” herein.

⁷ R. pg. 277 -E-mail 11-27-12 5:14pm from Carrie Boyer (Woody Law) to Allison Williams.

⁸ R. pg. 278- “Memos for Loan”, entry 11/30/12 9:27am; R. pg. 157, line 12 thru pg. 158, line 14.

appraisal got back” and to “*let them know when it was done*” (R. pg. 343). Appellants Ferro complete minor repair from termite damage and schedules appointment for treatment to termites and minor damage. **Contract expires.**

December 3, Rick implores to Ms. Nicholson “*get the appraisal done asap or they [Respondents] may lose the deal by default from the time taking so long!*” Ms. Nicholson then contacts Respondent Cross and asks her to start her loan process since the Appellants Ferro have shown they are “*serious about doing what is necessary within reason to close do YOU feel comfortable to have the mortgage company do what they need so we can close?*” Respondents agree they have no other concerns about the house and contact FF to apply for financing on Contract. Respondent Cross receives an automated “out of office” [until Dec. 5] message from Ms. William. Ms. Nicholson worriedly replies, “*we really need to get with FF hopefully they will call you back*” (R. pg. 352- e-mails 12-3-12 3 between Willis, Respondents, Ms. Nicholson).

December 3, Palmetto treats termites and minor repair. Ms. Nicholson is present at said property with her contractor to inspect repairs and insists to the “**no fault**” extension clause in paragraph 12 of contract, giving Respondents until the 15th of December to close.

December 5, Ms. Nicholson requests an e-mail from Carrie Boyer (Closing Attorney’s paralegal) to state Woody Law Firm needs proof that the damage on the CL-100 report was repaired. Carrie Boyer sends e-mail to Ms. Nicholson stating, “*As requested. We will have to have proof that the damages have been repaired. Thanks.*” (R. pg. 346- e-mail 12-5-12 2:38pm).

On December 5, Respondents apply for loan phone call. Respondents receive loan application, bank disclosures and their “Customer Loan Application Checklist” requirements from Allison Williams at FF⁹, via e-mail & attachments.

⁹ “FF” will represent First Federal Bank herein.

On December 6, Appellants Ferro fax closing attorney's completed engagement letter back. **Appellants Ferro handwrites on the bottom of the letter, "Today 12/6/12 Need to close in 7 days or less or no closing. Tom 12/6/12." File sent to first reviewing department. FF appraisal department orders appraisal. FF requests another contract due to the Sellers names missing.

On December 7, Respondents' file sent to UW¹⁰.

On December 8, Appellant Morphew looks at house.

On December 10, Respondents sign and mail application and disclosures to FF.

On December 11, UW reviews file [but nothing in it except for a blank prequalification application dated May 7, 2012].

On December 11, Appellant Morphew applies with several lenders for pre-approval.

On December 12, UW requests the signed application and banking disclosures, a legible copy of the sales contract, Addendum A, B, C and the signed Contract Extension from Respondents. Appraisal performed.

On December 15, 15-Day contract extension clause (paragraph 12) expires.

On December 16, Appellants Ferro send Respondents a contract cancellation notice due to not closing on or before the contract date. Appellant Morphew signed a contingent back up contract. Ms. Nicholson sends response back to Willis questioning the cancellation notice.

On December 17, Ms. Nicholson sends another response requesting more repairs plus attaching the December 12th approval letter, containing several buyer contingencies including Respondents IRS Transcripts, a legible contract and all its Addendums, and a Contract Extension. Rick responds and explains in detail why they issued the cancellation notice.

¹⁰ "UW" will represent First Federal Underwriting department.

On December 17, Appraisal reviewed by UW. UW “still to review loan once the contract and all addendums, including a Contract Extension, and Respondent’ IRS Transcripts are received.” Respondents IRS Transcripts ordered by FF.

On December 18, UW receives application and banking disclosures.

On December 20, UW receives a legible Contract unsigned by the Appellants Ferro. Michael Scarafile (President and General Counsel of Carolina One Real Estate) sends letter to Willis stating Respondents are able and willing to close within 5 day notice [by December 21, 2012], and if Appellants Ferro don’t agree to close then a lawsuit will be filed against them, plus a Lis Pendens to “prevent the Appellants Ferro from selling to anyone else”. No closing date offered by Mr. Scarafile.

December 20, UW receives the legible copy of the sales contract and all addendums. UW questions an unsigned copy of a Repair Addendum that appeared but “*was not in the original submission*” (R. pg. 278- “Memos for Loan”, entry 12/20/12 10:43am)

December 24, Attorney Joe Qualey, for Appellants Ferro, reviews contract and sends a letter to Susan Nicholson stating, “*Since the closing did not occur within the required time period (Time being of the Essence), this contract is null and void.*”¹¹

On December 31, 2012, UW sends a request to Ms. Williams (FF lending officer) to get an update on the Contract Extension needed from Respondents to obtain the loan.

On January 3, 2013: FF issues a 10-day notice to Respondents, again requesting a signed Contract Extension.

On January 10, Appellants Ferro speaks with Atty. Joe Qualey and informs him he has another buyer and intends to sell to other buyer. Atty. Qualey informs Respondents attorney, David Collins, the Appellants Ferro have another buyer and do not intend to sell to Respondents.

¹¹ (R. pg. 275)

On January 11, Atty. Collins files a Lis Pendens on property to prevent the sale of said property to Appellants Ferro backup buyer. On January 12, FF is told the loan is a short sale, therefore they don't need a Contract Extension. UW sends out inquiry to Respondents to see if there has been a verbal acceptance of a short sale.¹²

On January 15, 2013: Atty. Collins files another Lis Pendens, and a lawsuit against Appellants Ferro.

On January 16, Respondents file is reviewed for non-compliance and sent back to UW for decline due to expired 10-day notice (no response from Respondents).

On January 18, Respondents loan declined as of 1/18/2013 due to incomplete application and no response to FF's 10- day letter requesting the Contract Extension required at application on December 5, 2012. FF sends e-mail to Ms. Williams stating the file is being declined for not sending a Contract Extension.¹³ Ms. Williams informs Sandi Steele (FF) that Respondents are in litigation, an order was placed so the Seller cannot sell to anyone else, and suggests speaking to their (FF) attorneys about how to proceed in case they get drawn into a lawsuit. Allison Williams requested the file be escalated to Linda Hitchcock (FF) for determination of declination or hold until resolution (R. pg. 281).

January 23, File is sent back to UW for 2nd review [as a single female]. Declined for incomplete application (R. pg. 278- Memos for Loan entry 1-23-13 10:40am)

January 25, 2013: Willis requests information from FF regarding Respondents loan status. Kay (Mortgage Processor Team Leader) at FF calls Respondent Cross to ask her if she want her to provide the information to the listing agent [Willis] and if so Kay would need this in writing (R. pg. 278- Memos for Loan entry 1-25-13 1:25pm)

January 29, 2013: UW states no response from Respondent re: Willis request for their financing information (R. pg. 278- entry 1-29-13 8:14am). File is sent back to UW for another review.

January 30, 2013: Respondent Cross responds to FF inquiry re: Willis. Respondent Cross requests FF to e-mail the questions that were being asked by the listing agent. Kay (FF) e-mails

¹² Ms. Williams testifies she doesn't know why/how that came about but "it looks like "that girl" made an assumption and that is not right and that entire paragraph is not right" (R. pg. 183 lines 1-4 and pg. 278 Memos for Loan entry 1-12-2013 12:19pm).

¹³ (R. pg. 281)

questions to Respondent Cross. Cross e-mails Kay the name of their attorney and to direct any questions to him¹⁴. Morphew files lawsuit against Respondents for breach of contract and damages.

January 31, 2013: Refund and decline letter e-mailed to Respondents. File is put in W/R storage drawer¹⁵.

March 4, Atty. Massalon sends subpoena to FF requesting any information, documents, etc. in their possession relating to Respondents regarding purchase of 788 E. Butternut (TMS#128-00-00-090). (R. pg. 283)

March 8, 2013: Atty. Massalon/Atty. Collins mtg. to discuss if Respondents had financing and were not in breach of contract. Atty. Collins provided the Dec 12th pre-approval letter and stated that the reason his clients did not close is because "*the sellers did not provide a CL-100.*"

March 13, 2013: FF response to the subpoena from Atty. Massalon for information regarding Respondents loan: "*...there are no accounts for this client at our institution. We researched our internal system and Dorchester County Register of Deeds and were unable to locate any loan documents related to the above referenced customers for the specific address and TMS number.*" (R. pg. 282).

March 15, Atty. Massalon mtg. with Atty. Collins. Though FF stated there were no loans approved or even on file for his client, Atty. Collins stated "*his clients had loan approval, but couldn't close because they never got a CL-100.*"

¹⁴ (R. pg. 309- E-mails 1-30-13 8:23am and 9:18am between Respondent Cross and Kay Rode (Mortgage Processing Team Leader)

¹⁵ (R. pg. 278- Memos for Loan entry 1-31-13 11:05am)

March 21, Atty. Massalon has office conference with Atty. Collins re settlement and rediscovery. Dec 12th pre-approval letter presented as “proof” Collins clients had financing per contract. Collins again stated the CL-100 was the issue his clients couldn’t close.

May 23, 2013, 9:15am, Atty. Collins cancelled today’s 10:00am deposition for his clients. Respondent Dudek would not be able to attend and Respondent Cross” felt uncomfortable performing a deposition without Mr. Dudek”. Deposition rescheduled for 6-12-13.

June 12, 2013, 10am: Deposition postponed to 10:23. Respondents arrived late.

On Aug 1, Atty. Massalon sends 2nd subpoena to FF to obtain any documentation, etc. on Respondents; included the loan number.

August 8, 2013, FF again responds there is not such loan, customer or property. Atty. Neville, for Atty. Massalon, calls FF and discusses this anomaly. Was told she “could not/would not” discuss.

November 20, 2013, Consent Order for Reference to the Honorable James E. Chellis, Master of Equity.

June 10, 2014, Atty. Massalon received the pertinent loan file from FF less than 24 hours before trial; file received in response to the Subpoena issued to FF last year (March 4, 2013) (R. pg. 291)

June 11, 2014 (9:30am), First day of trial, Appellant Morpew, Respondents Dudek and Cross, and Appellants Ferro.

June 12, (9:30am), Second, and final, day of trial.

November 7, Judge sends out ruling from trial.

December 5, 2014, Appellant Morpew files and serves appeal. Appellants Ferro serve Notice of Appeal.

December 11, 2014, Appellants Ferro file Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“On appeal of a case tried without a jury, the appellate court's jurisdiction is limited to correction of errors at law. *Madren v. Bradford*, 378 S.C. 187, 191, 661 S.E.2d 390, 393 (Ct.App.2008) (citing *Epworth Children's Home v. Beasley*, 365 S.C. 157, 164, 616 S.E.2d 710, 714 (2005)). “The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action.”

Questions regarding credibility and weight of evidence are exclusively for the trial judge. *Sheek v. Crimestoppers Alarm Sys.*, 297 S.C. 375, 377, 377 S.E.2d 132, 133 (CT.App. 1989). “The appellate court will not disturb the trial court’s findings of fact as long as they are reasonably supported by the evidence.” *Epworth*, 365 S.C. at 164, 616 S.E.2d at 714.

A case with legal and equitable issues presents a divided scope of review. *Perry v. Gadsden*, 313 S.C. 296, 437 S.E.2d 174 (CT.App. 1993). When legal and equitable actions are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable for purposes of the applicable standard of review on appeal. *Corley v. Ott*, 326 S.C. 89, 485 S.E.2d 97 (1997)

“An action for breach of fiduciary duty is an action at law and the trial judge's findings of fact will be upheld unless without evidentiary support.” *Id.*; *Future Group, II v. Nationsbank*, 324 S.C. 89, 478 S.E.2d 45 (1996). An action seeking damages for breach of contract is also an action at law and the trial judge's findings of fact will be upheld unless without support. *Brown v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 337 S.C. 499, 523 S.E.2d 807 (CT.App. 1999).

"Indemnity is that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party. A right to indemnity may arise by contract (express or implied) or by operation of law as a matter of equity between the first and second party." *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc. (Winnsboro I)*, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E.2d 500, 502 (CT.App. 1990), *aff'd*, 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (1992) (*Winnsboro II*) (citation omitted).

"In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings. The rule is the same whether the judge's findings are made with or without, a reference. The judge's findings are equivalent to a jury's findings in a law action. *Chapman v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 263 S.C. 565, 211 S.E.2d 876 (1974)." *Townes Assocs. v. City of Greenville*, 266 S.C. 81, 221 S.E.2d 773 (1976).

“Conclusions of law, however, are reviewed under a pure de novo standard, according no deference to the conclusions of law made by the lower courts.” *Bank/First Citizens Bank v. Citizens & Assocs.*, 82 S.W.3d 259, 262 (2002).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE MASTER IN EQUITY ERRED IN RULING THE RESPONDENTS CONTRACT IS ENFORCEABLE.

Respondents Contract was ratified on October 24, 2012. Respondents were required to apply for financing by November 3, 2012. Respondents applied for financing on December 5, 2012. Contract expired on November 30, 2012. FF did not have a “live contract” when Respondents made application for said property and would not provide financing to Respondents without the Contract Extension (R. pg. 181, lines 3-6; pg. 182 lines 22-23; pg. 110 lines 2-6; pg. 111 line 24 thru pg. 112 line 6). When a contract expires, it is no longer is enforceable; “*a contract which ceases to be enforceable by law becomes void when it ceases to be enforceable*” 1949 Cap. 192. 25 of 53. 7 of 56, 2-(2)(j), and “*an agreement not enforceable by law is said to be void*” 1949 Cap. 192. 25 of 53. 7 of 56, 2-(2)(g). Respondents’ Contract is void.

Respondents loan file was re-reviewed for compliance and officially declined by FF due to an incomplete application/lack of a required signed Contract Extension and failure to respond to FF’s 10-day notice (R.pg. 295-300- “Notice of Withdrawal/Decline”; R. pg. 301-“10 day letter” requesting the Contract Extension required [as of Dec. 5]; R. pg. 281- e-mail 1-18-13 between Sandi Steele and Allison Williams), which rendered the said Contract void and invalid. FF closed the file as of 1-18-13. (R. pg. 194, lines 2-13). Ms. Williams testified there never was a closing date because **the remaining condition**, a signed Contract Extension, was never received from Respondents (R. pg. 180, line 14 thru pg. 181 line 1-6).

Respondents utter failure and intentional refusal (R. pg.104 line 22 thru pg.105 line 22) to perform their financing condition rendered the said Contract voidable in itself and placed the Respondents in a material breach of contract. Therefore, Appellants Ferro were well within their

rights, as per Contract paragraph, to cancel the Contract; and as provided by the effect of failure to perform at a fixed time, in a contract in which time is essential (**Time is of the Essence**):

“When a party to a contract promises to do a certain thing at or before a specified time, or certain things at or before specified times, and fails to do any such thing at or before the specified time, the contract, or so much of it as has not been performed, becomes voidable at the option of the promisee, if the intention of the parties was that time should be of the essence of the contract.” 1949 Cap. 192. 25 of 53. 7 of 56, 55(1).

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