THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM DORCHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable James E. Chellis, Master-In-Equity

Case No. 2013-CP-18-00074
Appellate Case No. 2017-001393

Stephen Dudek, Doreen Cross, Respondents,

v.

Thomas M. Ferro and Lorraine B. Ferro, Respondents,

And

Molly M. Morpew, Appellant,

v.

Stephen Dudek, Doreen Cross, Thomas Ferro and
Lorraine Ferro, Respondents

RECEIVED
AUG 13 2018
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS STEPHEN DUDEK AND DOREEN CROSS

SMITH | CLOSSER, P.A.

Steven L. Smith (SC Bar No.: 05173)
Samuel M. Wheeler (SC Bar No.: 101008)
7455 Cross County Road, Suite 1
P.O. Box 40578

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

ARGUMENTS

In her initial brief, Morphew has listed five issues, masked as an appeal of the Second Closing Order and Contempt Order. (see Morphew Br.). In fact, Morphew has actually raised no new issues for this Court to consider; instead, Morphew's appeal is nothing more than her attempt to relitigate the Specific Performance Order, which is the law of the case.

Morphew's brief is a little difficult to dissect, as it jumps around from landlord-tenant laws to Constitutional claims, relying mostly on non-binding precedent from Arizona, federal

circuits other than the Fourth Circuit, and an unidentified source labeled WRIGHT ET AL. (see Morphew Br.).¹

Based on her issues and her conclusion section, Morphew is arguing three things: (1) that the Specific Performance Order should be overturned and that she is entitled to a new trial; (2) that the Lower Court failed to consider fraud before issuing the Second Closing Order; and (3) that the Lower Court did not have personal or subject matter jurisdiction to issue the Second Closing Order or the Contempt Order. (Id.). The first two of these three arguments are found in issues one through four in Morphew's brief. The third argument is found in her fifth and final issue on appeal.

I. Morphew's first four issues seek to contest the unappealed law of this case, requiring this Court to affirm the Lower Court's orders.

A. The Specific Performance Order is the unappealed law of this case, requiring this Court to affirm the Lower Court's rulings.

In the Conclusion section of her initial brief, Morphew makes it abundantly clear what relief she is requesting. She attacks the alleged fraud on the court, then she states, "the Appellant is asking the Order of November 6, 2014 [i.e., the Specific Performance Order] should be rendered void and reversed, or as an alternative, void and vacated with this case remanded back for retrial." (Morphew Br., p. 19). Only then does she mention the Lower Court's failures with respect to the Second Closing Order and Contempt Order, which will be discussed below. She

¹ These new arguments and non-binding precedent should not be considered. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review."); *Bakala v. Bakala*, 352 S.C. 612, 625, 576 S.E.2d 156, 163 (2003) ("A due process claim raised for the first time on appeal is not preserved.")

reiterated this request for the Specific Performance Order to be vacated under her first three issues on appeal. (Id. at pp. 6, 9, 11). And in her discussion of her third issue on appeal, Morpew is actually challenging whether the Dudeks met the elements of Specific Performance. (Id. at pp. 9-11).

Morpew already appealed the Specific Performance Order, and this Court already upheld it. (R. pp. 27-30). Morpew chose to voluntarily dismiss her petition for a rehearing, leading this Court to issue remittitur. (R. pp. 31-33). It is well established that an “unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *Transp. Ins. Co. v. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687 (2010) (citing *Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 338 S.C. 171, 175, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2000)); see also *Buckner v. Preferred Mutual Insurance Company*, 255 S.C. 159, 177 S.E.2d 544 (1970); *Atlantic Coast Builders and Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 730 S.E.2d 282 (2012); *First Union National Bank of South Carolina v. Soden*, 333 S.C. 554, 511 S.E.2d 372 (1998).

Morpew has used an appeal of the Second Closing Order and Contempt Order as an attempt to have this Court overturn the Specific Performance Order. These actions were taken by the Lower Court after this Court upheld the Specific Performance Order and purely to give effect to this Court’s decision to affirm the Specific Performance Order. If the Lower Court did not take these actions, then the Dudeks, the parties determined by the Lower Court and this Court as the rightful owners of the Home, would still not be in possession of the Home. Instead, Morpew would be in the possession of the Home, a result contrary to the outcome of years of litigation and a subsequent appeal.

The Specific Performance Order is the law of the case, requiring this Court to affirm the Lower Court’s orders, which were issued to bring finality to this case.

B. Morphew never properly challenged the alleged fraud on the Lower Court, rendering any rulings following it the law of the case.

In her first four issues on appeal, Morphew argues that the Specific Performance Order, the Second Closing Order, and the Contempt Order should be vacated because the lower court issued these orders without first considering fraud perpetrated by the Dudeks on both Morphew and the Lower Court at trial in June, 2014. (see Morphew Br.). This alleged fraud went unchallenged, and it cannot now be used to unsettle the law of the case.

By her own admission, the fraud that forms the basis of her first four issues, and her other pending cases in Dorchester County for that matter, was discovered by her and the Ferros in September, 2014, when the Ferros filed a “Pleading Statement” with the lower court, which alleged new evidence of fraud on the court at trial. (R. pp. 128-194). In her initial brief, Morphew admits this fact, stating, “[t]he Ferros petitioned the court to consider this new evidence before making his ruling...and eventually, the evidence discovered led to a separate action for fraud/fraud on the court against Dudek/Cross, their agent, lending officer, and attorney....” (see Morphew Br., p. 7). The “separate action” she referred to is *Molly M. Morphew v. Stephen Dudek, et al.*, Case No.2016-CP-18-1706.

This new evidence and supposed fraud was known to Morphew and the Ferros after trial but before the lower court issued the Specific Performance Order, in November, 2014. Yet, at no point either after issuance of the Specific Performance Order or the filing of their first appeal did Morphew or the Ferros file a motion pursuant to Rule 60, SCRCF, to have the Specific Performance Order set aside for fraud. (see Filing History, Case No. 2013-CP-18-00183). Rule 60(b), SCRCF, allows for a party to move to set aside an order which was based on fraud or after the discovery of new evidence. Rule 60(b), SCRCF. The rule even allows for a party to request

leave from the appellate court. *Id.* Despite knowing of alleged new evidence and fraud by the Dudeks, Morphew neither filed a Rule 60, SCRPC, motion after the Specific Performance Order was issued nor sought leave from this Court to file that motion.

This alleged fraud, which forms the basis of her first four issues on appeal, went unchallenged and cannot now be used to unsettle the law of the case (i.e., the Specific Performance Order). Moreover, she currently has pending an entirely new case in Dorchester County that make the exact same allegations of fraud. (R. pp. 210-277). For these reasons, this Court should affirm the Lower Court's orders.

II. Morphew's final issue on appeal lacks merit because she is challenging jurisdiction, when she in fact voluntarily submitted to the jurisdiction of the Lower Court.

In her only issue that discusses neither the Specific Performance Order nor fraud, which are the law of this case and cannot be appealed again, Morphew claims that the Second Closing Order and Contempt Order should be vacated because the Lower Court lacked personal jurisdiction over her and subject matter jurisdiction over the case to issue these orders. (Morphew Br., pp. 15-16, 19).

Morphew brought one of the original specific performance cases that were consolidated. By doing so, she voluntarily appeared and subjected herself to the jurisdiction of the Lower Court. See *Eaddy v. Eaddy*, 283 S.C. 582, 324 S.E.2d 70 (1984). She cannot now challenge the personal jurisdiction of the lower court in issuing orders that followed this Court's remittitur. All post-remittitur hearings and orders are in the same case...that she brought. In effect, she, as the plaintiff, is challenging personal jurisdiction, an argument completely contrary to the law. Her challenge of subject matter jurisdiction is equally as frivolous. As argued above, in issuing the

Second Closing Order and Contempt Order, the Lower Court was attempting to take steps necessary to close this case, following this Court's remittitur. The Home, which is the subject of the original cases, the original appeal, and the Closing Order and Contempt Order, is located in Dorchester County, within the jurisdiction of the Lower Court. At no point did anyone challenge the subject matter jurisdiction of the Lower Court. Again, Morpew brought one of the original cases that forms the basis of the appeal. And, again, in doing so, she admitted that the Lower Court had subject matter jurisdiction.

What Morpew appears to be complaining of is a lack of notice of hearings that led to the Closing Order and Contempt Order. There were three separate hearings, on March 27, 2017, May 12, 2017, and June 12, 2017, and Morpew attended all of these hearings, so notice must not have been an issue. (R. pp. 440-489; Br. P. 17). Moreover, the Lower Court essentially bent over backwards in an attempt to give due weight to Morpew's "Answer" to the Dudeks Motion to Set Closing, which she filed after the Lower Court issued the First Closing Order. The Lower Court considered her "Answer" a Rule 59, SCRCPC, motion to reconsider, and it went on to issue the Second Closing Order.

Morpew's challenges of personal or subject matter jurisdiction are without merit, and she appeared at all hearings leading to the orders she now appeals, requiring this Court to uphold the orders being appealed.

In this final issue, Morpew also challenges the Lower Court's *sua sponte* finding of contempt, and she makes a sympathetic plea based on the hardship she endured when she was ordered to vacate the Home on such short notice. First, judges have wide latitude to act as the Lower Court did in this instance. *McEachern v. Black*, 329 S.C. 642, 649, 496 S.E.2d 659, 663 (1997) (citing *State v. Blanton*, 278 S.C. 597, 300 S.E.2d 286 (1983); *Long v. McMillan*, 226

S.C. 598, 86 S.E.2d 477 (1955); 17 C.J.S. Contempt § 63 (1963) (“The court, without complaint, may of its own motion, institute proceedings to punish for offenses against its dignity and authority, although the contempt was not, strictly speaking, committed in the presence of the court.”)). Second, while it is true that the Contempt Order gave Morphew three days to vacate the Home, such a myopic argument by Morphew fails to consider the duration of time that had passed between this Court upholding the Specific Performance Order and the Lower Court issuing the Contempt Order, as well as the number of hearings that took place in that time frame. For four months, from this Court’s February 15, 2017, remittitur to the Lower Court’s June 14, 2017, Contempt Order, Morphew lived in the Home knowing that the Dudeks were entitled to own the Home. After the Dudeks in fact closed on the Home, Morphew still refused to vacate the Home. Furthermore, such an argument is undermined by Morphew’s filing of Case No. 2017-CP-18-0987 the same day, June 12, 2017, of the hearings that led to the Contempt Order. This coincidence suggests that Morphew knew in advance of the hearings that she would be ordered to vacate the Home. Her reaction: Spend time not preparing to vacate the home but drafting a third lawsuit against the Dudeks. It should be noted that she also filed a *lis pendens* in connection with that case. This action by Morphew not only puts a cloud on the Dudeks’ title, thus preventing transfer, it underscores Morphew’s continued misguided belief that she is entitled to own the Home. After that case was dismissed, Morphew’s reaction was to file yet another appeal. The Lower Court has had numerous occasions to judge Morphew’s actions, gauge her character, and assess her supposed plight. It has bluntly stated that she is “so emotionally invested in this case that she cannot ‘see the forest for the trees’” and that her actions “raise the inference that she is an obstructionist, who seeks to de-rail the real estate sale to Dudek and Cross.” (R. p. 70 n. 7; R. p. 52 ¶ 13).

In its efforts to effectuate this Court's Opinion upholding the Specific Performance Order, the Lower Court set a schedule for the Dudeks to close on the Home, which they did. When Morphew refused to vacate the Home, it ordered her to vacate the Home. In taking these actions, it held three hearings and issued numerous orders, all giving due credit to Morphew's arguments. For these reasons, this Court should affirm all orders being appealed.

III. This Court should further uphold the orders being appealed for any ground appearing in the record.

“Under the present rules, a respondent—the ‘winner’ in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court.” *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000). “The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.” Rule 220(c), SCACR. As the prevailing party, the Dudeks would request that this Court affirm the Lower Court's orders for any ground appearing in the record.